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10. 

Gender and the "Citizen Indian" 

WENDY WALL 

Conquest allows the victors to set the rules. U.S. westward expansion in 
the nineteenth century was based on twin commitments to private property 
and male-headed nuclear families. These values were legislated in the 
Homestead Act of 1862. which divided the public domain into parcels of 
land for individual family settlement But the same values that were so 
important to Euro-American settlement had quite different effects on 
American Indians when they were imposed on them in the Dawes Act of 
I8lrl. As described in general terms in the introduction to this section and 
in specific terms in this article, the Dawes Act forced many changes on 
Indian reservations. 

lbrious tribes adapted differently to the Dawes Act, sometimes farming 
collectively for a time, or learning to market women's crafts and domestic 
products for income. As this article shows, the system of adaptation was 
complex, and it was not one-sided. JJ!!ndy Wall examines government 
documents and ethnographies from the Round lblley Reservation in 
California to show the strategies Euro-Americans used to try to teach 
Indian women "proper" gender roles, and the Indian 1romen's adapta­
tions and resistance. Government policy becomes not just a matter of law, 
but a series of accommodations and exchanges in which Indian women 
forged their own survival strategies and government officials adapted their 
civilizing mission to the resistance they encountered. Wall portrays the 
active roles of all the women in the process, without losing sight of the 
power relationships that affected the outcomes. 

On 19 November 1910 a fire broke out at the boarding school on the Round 
Valley Reservation in Mendocino County, California. Before the blaze 
could be contained, it had destroyed the girls' donnitory, the dining room, 
the kitchen, and the doctor's residence. Although the cause of the fire was 
never determined, both the superintendent and students suspected it had 
been set by several older girls who "hated the school." 1 

The mysterious fire was only the first sign of trouble brewing on the 
reservation. In ensuing months, the agency's sawmill burned, students ran 
away, and teenage girls twice tried to torch the remaining buildings. In 
early 1914, two boys burned the schoolhouse to the ground, while others 
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. ►-, 
Employees and students at the Round Valley Rese~n boaroing school, circa ~5, 
Covelo, Califurnia. (Collection of the Mendocmo County Museum, Willits, 
California, no. 79-5-4.) 

set their donnitory on fire. Meanwhile, adult Indians collected affidavits 
and circulated petitions calling fur the superintendent's removal. 

What triggered such overt resistance at the Round Valley Agency 
between 1910 and 1914? A reconstruction of events at the reservation 
suggests that the explosion of tensions there resulted largely from attempts 
by federal officials to meddle in Indians' personal lives. Such meddling 
stemmed directly from assumptions about gender, family, and sexuality 
embedded in the policy of "total assimilation" that the federal government 
pursued from 1887 until the beginning of the New Deal. 

As scholars have noted, eighteenth- and nineteenth-century efforts to 
"civilize" Native Americans often involved attempts to modify Indian 
gender roles.2 Missionaries and reformers tried to teach Indian men to 
farm and y,omen to sew, even as they encouraged both sexes to adopt 
Euro-American moral standards. The policy launched in 1887 of con­
verting tribal lands to individual ownership-as well as the educational 
campaigns that buttressed this land allotment program-carried such 
efforts a step further. In attempting to make citizens of Native Americans, 
U.S. policymakers envisioned nothing less than, as Theodore Roosevelt 
put it, the «pulverizing ... [of] the tribal mass" and the restructuring of 
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Indian society around patriarchal family units. Indian men would be 
taught to enter white commercial society as independent farmers and 
householders, while Indian women would be transformed into the chaste 
s~bmi~sive, and nurturing housewives prescribed by the ideology of ·· 
V1c_tonan womanhood. These male-headed farm families, reformers 
believed, would be the vessels that would carry Native Americans into 
mainstream white society. 

The centrality of Euro-American gender norms to the assimilation 
program-as well as the fierceness with which Native Americans at 
Round Valley resisted them-highlights the cardinal role played by issues 
of gender and family in cultural construction and conflict. To the federal 
officials stationed at Round Valley, legal marriage was a crucial sign of 
civilization while the boarding school was· civilization's cradle. But, 
?~u~ they tampered wit!t personal relationships, it was precisely these . 
mslltullons that the Indians most resolutely resisted. The Native 
Americans of Round Valley selectively adopted Euro-American work 
roles and dress codes that would help them survive in a marketplace 
do~nated by "."hites._ At the same time, they fought off all outside attempts · 
to mterfere with their families and their personal lives. This resistance 
ultimately contnbuted to the disillusionment of white officials with the 
innate "equality" of their Indian charges and to the failure of the 
assimilation campaign.' 

In the late nineteenth century, American reformers and policymakers 
saw the idealized Victorian family as the linchpin of civilization. This 
white, middle-class family ideal revolved around the twin pillars of sexual 
purity and "separate spheres." The Victorian couple was expected to 
reserve sexuality for marriage and to remain together until separated by 
death. T~e husband would work outside the home, engaging in politics 
and earnmg money to support the family. The wife shaped the domestic 
sphere, nurturing her husband and children and maintaining her home's 
tranquility and moral character. 

However unrealistic this ideal was for many white Americans it 
differed dramatically from the conceptions of gender, sexuality, :.Oct 
family held by the various Native American groups overseen by the Round 
Valley Agency. In 1890, remnants of the Yuki, Concow, Wailaki, . 
Achumawi, and Nomlaki tribes, as well as several bands of Pomo made• 
their home on the reservation, which was located 150 miles north 'of San 
Francisco between the Eel River and what is now the Mendocino National 
Forest. In the early twentieth century, the agency's purview was extended 
to encompass hundreds of Indians, mostly Pomo, living in small 
"rancherias" south of the reservation.• · 

Prior to contact with whites, all of these tribes-like most cultures­
distinguished between men's and women's roles; however, their con­
ceptions of those roles differed from one another as well as from the 
Victorian ideal. All of the Round Valley tribes saw hunting as an ·:: 
exclusively male domain, but women aided in fishing and insect hunts and ' 
collected the bulk of the wild plant food on which the Indians subsisted. 
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Most household duties fell to women; however, men generally performed 
domestic tasks if their wives were observing menstrual laboos, and 
Wailaki men fashioned garments. Although mothers played the principal 
role in child rearing, fathers and other family members also _took turns 
caring for offspring and tribal members were quick to adopt children who 
bad been orphaned or deserted. Most of the tribes had some men who 
wore fentale clothing and followed the occupations of women.' 

The power and privilege reserved for each sex also differed from tribe 
to tribe. Most of the Round Valley tribes, like Euro-Americans, counted 

· descent through the male line and reserved powerful positions for men. 
However, two of the tribes most heavily represented at Round Valley-the 
Yuki and Pomo-accorded women higher status. The Yuki traced descent 
along maternal lines, and if a Yuki chief left no son, his sister often serve? 
until a male successor could be appointed. The Pomo favored both ntatn­
lineal descent and ntatrilocal residence and had some tribelets with female 
chiels. Women could become shantans and powerful "bear doctors," and 

" a few were admitted to male societies. A multifamily dwelling and the 
land surrounding it was said to be owned by the oldest woman. The Pomo 
often gave their children two names-one conferred by maternal 
relatives-and naming generally favored !he mother's line.• 

But it was on issues of marriage, divorce, and sexuality where all of the 
Round Valley Indians differed most dramatically from white middle-class 
reformers. At Achumawi girls' puberty ceremonies, the celebrants sang 
bawdy songs and had intercourse in the bushes. Pornos _thought of 
courtship as a time of sexual enjoyment, and none of the tnbes barred 

· premarital sex.7 Girls often married in their early-to-mid teens and were 
sometimes betrothed even before they reached puberty. Marriage required 
neither legal nor religious sanction, although family approval was usually 

. necessary. It was accomplished by the couple living together, sometimes 
fullowed by an exchange of gifts between families. Although the various 
tribes held marital fidelity as an ideal, some men took two or more wives 
and adultery was not always treated seriously. Divorce was common: 
Either party could leave the other for any reason, and many Indians had 

·• •two or more partners over the course of a lifetime.• 
Such cultural patterns were severely tested in the 1850s as gold-seeking 

white settlers poured into northern California. In the decade following the 
discovery of gold at Sutter's Fort, the tribes north of San Francisco Bay 
suffered some of the most brutal treatment of any Native American group 

. on the continent. White miners and other settlers hunted Indian men and 
· raped Indian women, while fortune seekers kidnapped both adults and 

children and sold them into indentured servitude. Such rampaging on the 
part of whites prompted the U.S. government to establish the Nome Cult 
Indian Farm at Round Valley in 1856. Two years later, the farm became 
the Round Valley Reservation? 

" By 1890, forty years of contact and conflict with white settlers, soldiers, 
· and missionaries had eroded some native customs, while intertribal 

marriage and reservation life had blurred some of the distinctions between 
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tribes. Most Round Valley Indians spoke English, wore "white man's 
clothes," and lived in frame houses rather than slab huts. Nevertheless, 
they were still far from the "civilized" standards proclaimed by white 
reformers, policymakers, and bureaucrats. The Round Valley Indians 
retained their largely communal lifestyle, living in villages and doing a 
small amount of farming communally. Both men and women supple­
mented. government rations by migrating off the reservation to pick hops 
for white fimners. With one brief exception, efforts to persuade the 
Indians to convert to Christianity and marry "legally" had been wholly 
unsuccessful.'" 

For the federal agents and missionaries trying to "civilize" the Indians 
before th~y were overrun by white settlers, time appeared to be running 
out. White ranchers stole agency cattle and grazed their herds on 
reservation land. White settlers squatted in the small, fertile valley. In 
1887, when the Round Valley agent summoned troops to drive the squatters 
away, the white settlers persuaded a friendly state court to issue an 
injunction on their behalf. 

Round Valley was not the only reservation facing such difficulties: From 
the South Dakota badlands to the California coast, white settlements were 
engulfmg Indian reservations and Euro-Americans were clamoring for 
more land. Independently, many reformers were becoming disillusioned 
with a reservation system noted mainly for its corruption. Far from 
helping the Indians, the reservations actually seemed to many whites to 
be hindering their progress. The solution, reformers concluded, was to do 
away with reservations entirely and pursue "total assimilation." That 
meant remaking Indian society-from property values to gender roles-to 
bring it into line with Euro-American ideals. 

The cornerstone of this assimilation program, and of Indian policy for 
the next half-century, was the General Allotment, or Dawes, Act. Passed 
in 1887 but implemented over the next several decades, the act established 
a pathway for bringing Indians into "mainstream" American society by 
giv!"~ the U.~. president the right to divide reservation lands among 
md1V1dual Indians. The federal government would hold these tracts in trust 
for twenty-five years, at which time Indians would receive full title to the 
land and could do with it as they wished. When they received their 
allotments, Indians would also become U.S. citizens. Land that wasn't 
allotted-reformers and policymakers reasoned that Indians had more than 
they could possibly manage-v,ould be sold by the government to 
railroads and settlers. The proceeds would be held by the U.S. Treasury 
and used to "educate" and "'civilize" the tribes.11 

The Dawes Act temporarily appeased rapacious white westerners by 
freeing up unallotted Indian land, but it was not simply a cynical land 
grab. As Frederick Hoxie has shown, it reflected many reformers' deep 
faith in the great homogenizing power of American institutions, as well 
as their surprisingly egalitarian assessment of Indians' innate abilities. 
"The Indian is not unlike his white brother in moral and intellectual 
endowments and aspirations," J. D. C. Atkins, the commissioner of Indian 

aflilirs wrote in 1887. ':Any people of whatever race or color m:iuld differ 
little from our Indians" if they lived in tribes, held land communally, and 
received government rations and clothes. Under such conditions, even 
"enterprising 'rankees" v.ould become "a race of shiftless paupers," 
Atkins concluded. The Dawes Act would aid the Indians by eliminating 
such handicaps; it would "dissolve all tribal relations and place each adult 
Indian upon the broad platform of American citizenship." 12 

But just as American citizenship in the 1880s did not afford equal rights 
to white men and women, the Dawes Act was informed by the reformers' 
assumptions about separate and different roles for the Indian sexes. When 
the Board of Indian Commissioners welcomed the passage of the Dawes 
Act as the "Indian emancipation day," the commissioners were clearly 
focusing on male Indians: "The measure gives to the Indian the possibility 
to become a man instead of remaining a ward of the government. It affords 
him the opportunity to make for himself and his family a home, and to 
live among his equals a manly and independent life."" As the board's 
v,ording suggests, many policymakers and reformers believed that a 
civilized society was, by definition, one organized around patriarchal 
family units. 

The degree to which this concept of civilization informed the 
assimilation campaign becomes sharply apparent in the 1892 annual 
report of the commissioner of Indian affiurs. In a section entitled "What 
Is an Indian?" Commissioner Morgan considered whether a v.oman who 
was one-quarter Indian should be denied an allotment because her father 
was white. Morgan first described the inheritance practioes of the U.S. and 
other "civilized nations": "Under the rule upon which a family is 
constructed among civilized nations the predominant principle is descent 
through the father. The father is the head of the family. When a man 
marries, his wife separates herself from her family and kindred and takes 
up her abode with her husband, assumes his name, and becomes 
subordinate, in a sense, to him." That said, Morgan went on to 
acknowledge that in many North American Indian tribes the line of 
descent was through the mother, and "in many instances the wife and not 
the husband is recognized as the head of the family." He concluded that, 
for purposes of allotment, the law of descent should be loosely construed 
and take into account Indian practices. However, once Indians became 
citizens by taking allotments, "the old English common law, which makes 
the father the controlling factor and determines relationships through 
him" should apply. In Morgan's schema, patrilineal families were clearly 
associated with civilization and citizenship; matrilineal families were a 
sign of savagery. The allotment program v.ould transfer Indians from 
"primitive" matrilineal to "civilized" patrilineal Jaw.14 

The implications of this approach soon became apparent on the Round 
Valley Reservation. In 1894, the agency's Indians finally received their 
allotments, well ahead of some tribes, but hardly soon enough to satisfy 
the reservation's agents. Within days of allotment, the new acting agent 
began moving Indian fumilies out of their villages and onto their allotted 



tracts of land. By fall, the last of the village houses had been torn down, 
and soon thereafter all government rations ceased. 15 

~ the destruction of the villages suggests, allotment at Round Valley 
entailed far more than simply giving individual Native Americans tracts 
of land. Instead, federal officials attempted to break up the Indians' 
kinship-based communal society and restructure it around patriarchal and 
patrilineal nuclear families. A circular from the Office of Indian Affairs 
for instance, urged Round Valley's agent and school superintendent t~ 
"systematically endeavor ... to have children and wives known by the 
names of their fathers and husbands." The circular noted that once 
Indians became citizens, they v.ould be subject to the inheritance laws of 
the various states. If different family members had different names, the 
result would be "needless confusion. " 16 

Washington's vision of male-headed nuclear families also guided the 
allotment of land. When the Round Valley Reservation \¼IS divided, most 
Indians received ten acres of valley land; wives got just five acres. Thus 
Maggie Hoxie received less land than her husband, her three-year-old 
son, and even her three-month-old daughter. By contrast, Sallie Haines, 
who was single, got the full ten acres. So did Martha Doan, a thirty-one­
year-old with three children and no husband in sight." 

In giving Ro,md Valley wives less land than their husbands and 
children, federal officials clearly assumed that these women could rely on 
their husbands for lifelong financial support. But this assumption over­
l~ked the ease and frequency with which the Round Valley Indians 
d1vorced.1• Moreover, the assumption that husbands controlled their 
wives' property could be used to justify depriving v.omen of full title to 
their land. In 1912, for instance, departed Round Valley superintendent 
Horace Johnson recommended against giving Minerva Allen her patent in 
fee because "I fear her husband v.ould dissipate her property." Allen's 
husband, Johnson explained, had trouble keeping a job and w.ts rumored 
to have shown attention to another v.oman. Johnson recommended that his 
successor sell Allen's allotment and use the money to buy her a home in 
the area.19 

In the long run, however, the most disruptive aspect of this policy was 
the determination of who constituted a "wife." In 1894 most Indians on 
the reservation were married only by tribal custom. But the Office of 
Indian Affairs decreed that all couples cohabiting at the time of allotment 
would be considered married under state law.'0 This ruling eventually 
became a major source of tension on the reservation as agents and 
superintendents tried to prosecute Indians who changed partners without 
obtaining formal divorce decrees from California courts. 

If allotment was the first step in the process of preparing Native 
Americans for citizenship, education was the second. Reformers from the 
eighteenth century on had looked to education as a solution to the "Indian 
problem," but only afu:r the Civil War did the federal government become 
actively involved. By the 1870s, the Office of Indian Affairs had con­
cluded that only a wriversal school system could assimilate Native 

Americans, and in 1879 it opened the first off-reservation boarding school 
in Carlisle, Pennsylvania. The philosophy of "full and immediate assimi­
lation" embodied in the Dawes Act gave the federal thrust into Indian 
education an additional push. "The time has come in our history for us 
to recognize that the only good Indian is an educated Indian," Commis­
sioner T. J. Morgan told the Indian Rights Association in an 1889 speech. 
Such education would "enable [the Indians] to compete successfully with 
the white man on his own ground and with his own methods. " 21 

Indian education was designed to teach Native Americans not only 
reading and writing but also ''a love of labor and a habit of working." As 
several scholars have pointed out, such education revolved around gen­
dered Euro-American ideas of work andmorality. 22 Reformers particularly 
emphasized the education of Indian girls, whom they believed to be the 
key to "civilized" homes. As one prominent reformer wrote in 1881, "If 
we educate the girls of to-day, we educate the mothers of tomorrow, and 
in educating those mothers we prepare the ground for the education of 
generations to come. ,.23 

Ironically, although the Victorian ideal revolved around nuclear 
families, federal officials often believed the first step in instilling this ideal 
was separating Indian children from their parents. Only in boarding 
schools, many reformers and policymakers believed, would students be 
sufficiently isolated from the contaminating influences of their home 
environments. At Round Valley, agents and superintendents saw a board­
ing school as crucial to enforcing Euro-American moral and sexual 
codes.24 

When the first Indian boarding school opened on the Round Valley 
Reservation in 1881, Agent Henry Sheldon insisted that the school's 
teachers maintain sex segregation among the Indian students to prevent 
sexual contact he deemed immoral. Sheldon was angry when he learned 
that one instructor had allowed boys and girls to play together when the 
agent and his wife (a teacher at the school) were absent. He was even 
angrier when he discovered that the school's missionary had tried to 
arrange marriages for two Indian girls-ages fourteen and sixteen-whom 
Sheldon had forbidden to wed. In July 1883 Indian students burned the 
school to the ground, probably in part because of Sheldon's harsh 
enforcement of middle-class Euro-American moral codes.25 

:.o"! 

The day school that immediately replaced the burned boarding school 
continued to teach Indian boys to farm and Indian girls to sew. Never­
theless, the reservation's agents continued to lobby for a new boarding 
school that would prevent sexual mischief. "The want of a boarding school 
is seriously felt here," Agent Theodore F. Willsey wrote the commis­
sioner of Indian affairs in 1885. "It is simply impossible to protect the 
young and half-grown girls from the insults of the young 'bucks' while 
they are allowed to live in the camps." Two years later, C. H. Yates 
complained, "The moral training these children receive during [day] 
school hours is more than offset by the vices of camp life, and I am 
powerless to prevent this without the aid of a boarding school. " In 1890, 
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the returned agent Willsey was blunter still: "Boarding-school buildings 
should be erected at once lbr the protection of the young girls. Morality 
is unknown in Indian camp life. Scarcely a girl reaches the age of 14 
without being a mother. " 26 

In 1897, three years after the allotment of the Round Valley Reservation, 
the OIA granted the agents' wish and opened the Round Valley Industrial 
Boarding School. Just as it enforced Victorian sexual codes, the school 
taught Indian children Euro-American gender work roles. Although all 
students spent several hours a day in the classroom, much of their time 
was devoted to learning practical tasks. The boys worked with the school 
farmer, gardener, carpenter, stockman, and stableman, while brigades of 
girls aided the seamstress, laundress, and cook.27 

At least at the outset, such training seems to have been geared to 
teaching Indian children to become independent funners and farmwives. 
In a report sent to Washington in 1900, Superintendent Harry Liston noted 
that Indian boys were being taught "such information as is needed to 
successfully manage a funn in this valley." Meanwhile, in addition to the 
tasks already noted, girls were being taught to make beds; care for the 
sick; make butter; and can fruit, jam, jellies, and preserves. These, Liston 
added, were "all the duties most likely to devolve on a housewife" and 
thus "everything they will in all probability be called upon to perform in 
future life. " 28 

At the Round Valley school, gifts, games, magazines, and clothes also 
reinlbrced gender roles. The school subscribed to Boys' flbrld and Girls' 
Companion, as well as to Cosmopolitan and the l.adies' Home Journal. 
Teachers taught Indian children "white· children's games" - "break 
bronchos" and marbles for the boys, school and "keep house" for the 
girls. The school had a marching band and a baseball team, for boys only. 
Girls received other benefits: In 1905, the school spent $9.60 on five dozen 
pairs of women's hose.29 

Despite such amenities, life at the school was frequently harsh. For the 
older girls, whose work was essential to keeping the school running, 
chores often left little time lbr books or play. And discipline was generally 
strict. In 1902, Liston temporarily suspended the cook after she beat six­
year-old Lara Parker lbr foigetting to put a pitcher of water on the table. 
Seven years later, U. L. Clardy explained why the laundress would make 
a good head matron: "Mrs. Tuttle is a woman who understands Indian 
children and handles them with good results," the agent wrote. "She 
appears to have little sympathy for the children. ">0 

The school could also be a deathtrap. Both the sewage and water systems 
were in "deplorable condition" when the school opened, and the damp, 
drafty, overorowded buildings bred consumption. On a reservation where 
disease took a heavy toll, the death rate among students was unusually 
high: Between 1899 and 1905, about 2 percent of the student body died 
each year, according to the reservation physician. In this, Round Valley 
was hardly unique. The monthly report forms Washington sent to Indian 
schools around the country routinely asked how many students had died." 

Two Native American gids and a school employee inside a building at the Round 
Valley Reservation boazding school, circa 1905, Covelo, Califurnia. (Collection of the 
Mendocino County Museum, Willits, Califumia, no. 79-5-5.) 

From the beginning, the boarding school stirred distrust and resentment 
among some Indians. Many older Indians at Round Valley remembered 
the 1850s and 1860s when rampaging white settlers kidnapped Indian 
children and sold them into indentured servitude tar away from their 
families. Even many parents who wanted their children educated worried 
about treatment at the boarding school. But if parents tried to keep their 
children home, Round Valley officials often sent out the reservation 
police. Only IJNlaY from their home environments, the agents and super­
intendents believed, coulfi girls be protected and children taught their 
proper roles." 

The allotment program and boarding schools were twO pillars of the 
"total assimilation" campaign. But by the early 1890s, the Office of Indian 
Affuirs had begun to worry about a hole in its plans. Adult male Indians 
had long been instructed in funning techniques by reservation funners and 
stockmen, but the Indian woman had been left "to work out as best she 
could the problem of exchanging a teepee or wigwam for a neat, com­
fortable and well-ordered home according to civilized standards," one 
report warned. Unable to observe the practices of civilized white 
neighbors, she had taken the habits of her outdoor life inside. "Dirt, 
disease and degradation were the natural consequences," the report 
concluded.» 
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In the eyes of policymakers and reformers, such dirt and degradation 
threatened the entire plan to reorganire Indian society around civilired 
single-family homes. "It is no wonder that Indians sometimes fail to take 
kindly to civilization presented in such a guise," the commissioner of 
Indian affairs wrote. He worried that Indians would contrast the "squalid 
home" to the "freedom, fascination, and quasi-dignity of a roving life." 
And, though Indian girls learned the habits of housework in school, these 
practices received no reinforcement and were quickly forgotten. 

In 1891, the Office of Indian Affairs developed a program to address this 
problem. Pressured by female reform groups like the Women's National 
Indian Association, it dispatched "field matrons" across the country so 
that "Indian women may be influenced in their home life and duties, and 
may have done for them in their sphere what farmers and mechanics are 
supposed to do for Indian men in their sphere." These government­
sponsored household missionaries would be the "powerful ally of the 
schools." They would help put Indian civilization on "the right basis, 
which is the home basis. "34 

The first Round Valley field matron took up her post in 1897, and over 
the next two decades at least four other field matrons worked on the 
reservation or in the district's scattered rancherias and encampments.35 By 
visiting Indian women and inviting them into their homes, these middle­
class white women instructed their native neighbors in everything from 
ventilation to virtue. "When Indian women come to my house I treat them 
like white friends. I do my housework before them and entertain them like 
any guests," wrote Carrie Moses in November 1897. Eleven years later, 
Linnian Tindall reported that she tried to encourage marriage and chastity 
"by kindly talks when visiting. " 36 

Through visits, chats, and informal classes, the field matrons instructed 
Indian women in the principles of "women's work." Over the years, they 
taught knitting, sewing, ironing, breadmaking, gardening, canning, fancy 
needlework, and the intricacies of making buttonholes. They handed out 
recipes, distributed flower seeds and stressed to Indian women "the duty 
they owe to their families to keep their houses clean." Tindall taught 
Indian girls the twin principles of grammar and laundry work by having 
them write compositions on starch making." 

At the same time, the field matrons directed much of their attention to 
the intertwined issues of manners and morals. They promot.ed church, 
temperance, and charity and took up the banner of "social purity," the 
late-nineteenth-century movement that urged both men and women to 
control their sexuality and confine it to marriage. "I have had much to say 
to them lately on social purity and try to have them properly married," 
Moses wrote in 1898. Tindall distributed Bibles and moral literature, 
organired a women's aid society, and used sewing classes to "talk to [older 
girls] about their 'future'" and "instill into them the right principles of 
womanhood. "38 

The field matrons' tone, as reflected in their reports, fluctuated between 
the moralistic and the practical and humane. This tension became more 
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apparent in the early twentieth century as matrons shifted more of their 
att.ention to issues of sanitation and health. "Have called their attention to 
the disease breeding qualities of refuse," Tindall reported in 1909. "Try 
to teach them that eating regularly and cooked food is the proper way to 
live." Tmdall campaigned for ventilation, clean underwear, and the wide­
spread use of lime. She passed out sputum cups to consumptives and 
warned of the dangers of putrified meat. Nevertheless, her frequent use 
of the word "proper" suggests an underlying cultural agenda: I "tell them 
that they will be healthier [if they] work and live as white people do," she 
wrote.39 

Although the field matrons focused on Indian women and girls, they 
didn't neglect the male members of the household. The Indian Office 
encouraged field matrons to "give to the male members of the family 
kindly admonition as to the 'chores' and heavier kinds of work about the 
house which in civilired communities [are] generally done by men." 
While Moses report.ed that she was doing just that, Tindall went even 
further. As part of her campaign for marriage and chastity, she urged 
young boys "to respect their girl companions ... and lead self-respecting 
lives." Later, she tried to wipe out "'vulgar' or unseemly talk" by 
appealing to "the 'manhood' of fathers and brothers. " 40 

Charged initially as domestic missionaries, the field matrons soon 
found they were spending much of their time as nurses and nurturers. 
Tuberculosis was rampant in the Round Valley district around 1900 and­
together with whooping cough, measles, chicken pox and the "grippe"-it 
took a heavy toll. Moses, Tindall, and Ella S. Brown all cared for the sick 
and delivered food regularly to elderly and disabled Indians, who had 
been left deserted and destitute in the new cash-based economy. As Moses 
wrote in 1898, "The main need here of a Field Matron is to feed the sick 
and have some heart fur the needy. " 41 

Confronted daily by sickness and suffering, the field matrons quickly 
became advocat.es of increased federal aid. Their monthly and quarterly 
reports were filled with pleadings for the government to provide land for 
the landless, medicine for the sick, and food for the old and disabled. "I 
would have liked to take an Inspector on my walks among the old people. 
I think the sight would convince him of the great need of a hospital for 
the helpless," Moses wrote in 1898. By 1914, Emma Alexander had scaled 
down the request: She wanted two single beds for the room in her quart.ers 
that she had converted into an emergency room.42 

Requests for aid sometimes brought the field matrons into direct 
conflict with their male supervisors. In November 1908, after months of 
begging for food and old clothes for elderly and disabled Indians, Linnian 
Tmdall added a note of urgency to her request: "Some of the old ones are 
apt to freere or starve if this cannot be done soon." Nevertheless, the 
Round Valley superint.endent, Horace Johnson, recommended that Wash­
ington reject the plea. Although he agreed that the government should help 
the Indian, "this helping hand should not, except in very unusual cases 
partake of the nature of gratuities, but . . . should be in the nature of 



assistance that will help him to help himself." Education, field matrons, 
legal protection, and agricultural advice were acceptable, Johnson con­
cluded. "Subsistence and clothing" were not.<> 

Tindall's aid request may have reflected her growing realization that the 
idealistic, if ethnocentric, goals of the assimilation program were crashing 
headlong into both economic reality and Indian resistance. At least 
initially, both Washington policymakers and Round Valley agents had 
hoped to turn Indians into independent !armers and furmwives. But this 
optimistic vision-while revealing an upbeat assessment of Indians' innate 
ability to assimilate-completely overlooked the realities of their daily 
lives. 

The Dawes Act had called for each Indian head of household to receive 
160 acres of furmland, if possible. But Round Valley had little arable land 
to begin with and large tracts were set aside for agency buildings and sale 
to whites. Thus, those Indians who received allotments got at most 10 
acres of "tillable" land. Some allotments were on steep, rockY hillsides, 
while others were in swampland or creek beds. Even those Indians who 
had excellent soil-and who could afford both tools and seed-could 
hardly run a farm on a 10-acre patch. "Gardening might be very success­
fully conducted were there any market for garden produce," Super­
intendent Johnson observed. But the reservation was several days away 
from the railroad-when the roads were passable at all.44 

All this meant that even Indians who continued to farm their allotments 
could rarely make enough to support their fumilies. Many simply leased 
or abandoned their land, and even those who stayed on the reservation 
generally migrated off it to work for whites in the area. In this migratory 
cycle, they were joined by hundreds of rancheria Indians who had never 
received allotments at all. The men worked as stockmen, sheepshearers, 
crop pickers and day laborers. The women washed clothes and picked 
crops too. The field matrons thus often found their work hampered by the 
striking disparities between what they were trying to teach and the 
realities of the Indians' daily lives. The gender roles and "civilized" ,home 
values dictated by Washington bureaucrats might have been ignored even 
by the independent farm liunilies those bureaucrats thought they were 
creating. To the Indians with whom the Round Valley field matrons 
worked-poor, sometimes landless, migratory laborers-such values were 
often irrelevant at best 

Field matrons, for instance, were instructed to teach Indian women to 
"adorn the home, both inside and out, with pictures, curtains, home-made 
rugs, flowers, grassplots, and trees." But as Linnian Tmdall pointed out, 
the Indians were too poor to afford furnishings, let alone curtains and 
wallpaper: "They move about so much that it is hard to get them to realize 
that their homes and yards require ornamentation.·• Similarly, it made 
little sense to mge Indians to keep and care for bees and cows, another 
prescribed task, when they often had no land on which to put the 
animals.45 

Land and homes were not the only problems. In September 1908, 
Tmdall explained why she had not been able to teach Indian children "the 
games and sports of white children" that month: "The children down to 
eight years worked in the fields. This hard work . . . is really necessary 
that they may have warm clothing through the winter," she wrote. "So 
there was no time for play." The following winter, which turned out to 
be unusually harsh, Tmdall added that she had "little to do in the line of 
food preparation" as "most any food is acceptable. " 46 

If the Round Valley Indians quietly ignored some of the field matrons' 
lessons, they flagrantly flouted other prescriptions of the assimilation 
campaign. Between 1890 and 1915, no issue caused Round Valley agents 
and superintendents more consternation than the Indians' fuilure to obtain 
marriage licenses, remain with their initial partners, and-when 
necessary-divorce "legally." In 1897 Agent George Patrick complained 
that widespread "adnltery" made "the task of the officer in charge of 
preserving order on the reservation difficult and unpleasant." A decade 
later Thomas Downs estimated that 30 percent of the ''younger element" 
of Indians on the reservation were living in open adultery. "In fact, it is 
the rottenest state of affairs for the small number of inhabitants that I have 
ever seen," he lamented. 47 

Some federal officials-seeing in the Native Americans' marital and 
sexual practices a breakdown of order and a threat to their own 
authority-tried to coerce Indians into obtaining marriage licenses and 
marrying legally. Downs, for example, reported' that he was "tak[ing] 
steps to correct the evil and compel those who can legally do so to get 
married." Downs didn't reveal what steps he planned to take, but a 
subsequent agent reported that Downs had somehow "persuaded" thirty­
two couples to marry!48 

In 1907 Superintendent Horace Johnson consulted the district attorney 
about cracking down on those Indians whom he saw as setting an inunoral 
example. Told there was little he could do, he eventually looked the other 
way. The Indians' "state of morality is not particularly high when viewed 
from a puritanical standpoint, yet I believe it to be not inferior to that of 
the white people of the same grade of intelligence," Johnson told his 
Washington superiors in his final report in 1910. Noting that the Indians' 
labor was "skillful and steady"-and that, by working both on and off the 
reservation, they were able to support themselves-Johnson recom­
mended closing the agency and relinquishing the Indians' common land. 
The Office of Indian Affairs ignored his suggestion." 

In July 1910, in a move that proved fateful, the Office of Indian Affairs 
transferred Johnson and appointed Thomas B. Wilson superintendent at 
Round Valley. Wilson, a fifty-five-year-old KentuckY lawyer who had 
spent years in the Indian service, inunediately set about sorting out the 
tangled heirship issues on the reservation. Wilson was probably spurred 
to such activism by a major revision of the Dawes Act that June. The 
original legislation had barred Indians whose allotments \\ere still held in 
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trust by the federal government from disposing of their land through wills. 
The 1910 revision lifted this restriction, but made such wills subject to the 
approval of the secretary of the interior. The act also granted the secretary 
specific authority to determine the heirs of allotment holders who died 
intestate. To carry out the legislation, agency superintendents were 
authorized to help their Indian charges draft wills and to conduct probate 
hearings. fur each will and probate, superintendents were required to 
forward a case report and recommendations to the interior secretary?• 

Not surprisingly, Wilson's locus on inheritance issues brought 
submerged disagreements over marriage and family to a head. From the 
beginning, marriage and allotment had been so closely tied at Round 
Valley that one former agent felt compelled to ask the Indian Office if 
couples who had been allotted together could legally divorce and 
remarry." The imposition of American heirship law produced additional 
complications. Who, for instance, was the heir to an Indian who had had 
several tribal marriages, only the first of which was legally certified by 
the state? What if the Indian's wives had each entered additional tnbal 
marriages after leaving him? And what if they had remarried legally 
without bothering to get legally divorced? 

In deciding one such case, Horace Johnson sidestepped legal doctrine 
and relied primarily on common sense.52 However, Wilson's legal training, 
combined with new regulations issued by the interior secretary in 1910, led 
the Round Valley superintendent to a more rigid interpretation of Ameri­
can family law. For instance, Wtlson ruled that Jim Halley's wife at the 
time of allotment, Alice Joe, was Halley's legal heir even though the 
couple had separated years earlier and both had remarried. Jim's and 
Alice's subsequent marriages (undertaken under pressure from an earlier 
agent) had been properly licensed and performed by clergymen. Never­
theless, Wlison held that these later unions were void, since Jim and Alice 
had never legally divorced. Wtlson also ruled against the heirship of Jim's 
adopted son, Tom Pike, on the grounds that Tom had never been formally 
adopted.53 

Although Wilson held dozens of heirship hearings, he constantly 
complained that the Indians' long-standing patterns of tribal marriage and 
divorce made his task nearly impossible. "This promiscuous manying 
and separating and utter disregard of marital ties on the part of many is 
the most trying problem of the reservation," Wilson complained bitterly 
in his 1911 annual report. "Aside from the demoralizing effect on the 
whole tribe, it renders the task of determining the legal heirs to the 
property well-nigh impossible.,,,. 

With encouragement from Washington, Wilson soon took steps to crack 
down on such relationships. In 1912, the superintendent reported that be 
had filed criminal complaints, charging adultery, against nine "unmar­
ried" couples and thus persuaded several to procure licenses and marry. 
But when some couples still refused, Wilson discovered that his legal 
ground was slippery. Ironically, Wilson used terms like "marital law" and 
"adultery" carelessly. The district attorney informed him that only 

individuals who were already legally married could be prosecuted for 
adultery; California had no law against fornication_-" . 

Undiscouraged, Wilson wrote the Office of Indian Affairs about the 
case of Belle WIisey, a forty-year-old widow, who was living with A1:111et 
Spenser, a twenty-one-year-old man. "Will the office allow such Indians 
as these to remain on the reservation in defiance oflaw, order and common 
decency?" he asked. "As there is no express statute for the punishment_ of 
the crime of fornication, then there must be some other way to pumsh 
those who commit the act." Although both Indians had allotments on the 
reservation Wilson suggested that they be banished because their 

' el f th I dian " 56 presence "may be detrimental to the peace and w fare o e n s. 
WIison seemed even more upset by Wilsey's defiance than by her 

morality. He reported that Spenser was willing ~o marry _but ~at Wilsey 
refused. And when the superintendent sent pohce to W!lsey_s house to 
collect evidence of wrongdoing, she threatened to shoot them 1f they ever 
returned on such business. "She is living in defiance of law and decency 
and doing so more in contrariness and spite than anyth~ el~,." Wtlson 
wrote. (Although WIisey may have defied Wilson out of spite, 1t !s equally 
possible that she wanted to maintain her legal independence, which would 
allow her son, rather than Spenser, to inherit her allotme~t.) . . 

W!lsey was not the only strong-willed woman Wtlson tned to rem m. 
In 1912 Wilson had Minnie Card arrested for adultery after she had been 
living :,,,,;th George Scott tor more than three years. Card's husband, 
Charles, was serving a forty-year prison sentence tor murder, and she had 
obtained an interlocutory divorce decree. WIison dropped the case after 
Card agreed to leave Scott until the divorce was fmalized and they could 
be legally married. But when Card stayed with Scott-an~ defied .~Iso_n 
in other ways-the superintendent moved to prevent her divorce. She 1s 
an exceedingly bad character," Wilson explai'!-ed to his Washington 
superiors. "George Scott also has a bad reputation and such people as 
these ought not to be permitted to live ~ogetber. " 57 . 

Wilson's opinion of Card was shaped ID part by a run-ID they _ha~ that 
year over the schooling of her daughter. As Wilson recalled ~ mc1dent, 
Card had been permitted to remove her daughter, Maude Febz, from the 
boarding school one Sun!lay morning on the condition that the girl ret1;1rn 
to the school that afternoon. When Maude did not appear, the reservation 
clerk and policemen visited her house and "Mrs. Card fought vigorously 
[but unsuccessfully) to keep the girl." Wilson claimed that Card t?ok 
revenge for the episode by burning hay that belonged_ to one of the pohce­
man. "She is a disreputable character and not a suitable person to have 
control of [her] children," Wilson wrote. 

In a 1914 affidavit Minnie Card (known by then as Mrs. Scott) remem­
bered the episode ~ther differently. She said she had withdrawn her 
daughter from school because she wanted company while George was 
away sheepshearing. When the Round Valley clerk, Omar ~tes, came to 
get the girl, Minnie told him she wanted Maude at home at mght and that 
the girl was attending public school in the nearby town of Covelo every 
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day: "Mr._ Bat~ then threatened Mrs. Scott with arrest if she did not 
co1'.1ply with his order. A few days later Mr. Bates, accompanied by two 
pohce officers-Charles Goodwin and Edward ·smith-entered Mrs 
Scott's yard and grabbed Mrs. Scott and threw her down and choked he; 
while Charles Goodwin grabbed the girl, Maude Feliz, and dragged her 
away. Mr. Bates choked Mrs. Scott so severely that his finger marks were 
left on her throat. " The finger marks, Minnie testified, were seen by a 
local doctor and the justice of the peace.ss 

Although tJ_tis episode was probably extreme, it reflected a further 
source of ~ns1on between Wilson and the Indians he oversaw. The Round 
Valley Indians felt it was their privilege to keep their children home from 
the boarding school when they wanted to, and most agents had allowed this 
to at least some ?egree. Wilson, however, took a tough stance. "Because 
I have not penmtted the~ [!o keep their children home], they feel they 
ha~e been depnved of their liberty, and for this reason have objected very 
senously to sending their children to the Government School," Wilson 
reported. In :fact, some Indians ~ the district had begun petitioning the 
local sc~ool board for the establishment of a public day school on the 
reservatJ.on.5• 

W:ilson's frus~_tio1_1 witI;, the Indians' resistance strongly colored his 
v~rd1ct ,,on assimilatJ.on. . The g~ting of citi7enship has proved a 
failure, ~e wrote the Indian Office 10 1912. "Citi7en Indians are not full­
fl~ged ~1tizens nor wards of the government. The government relin­
q~1shes its. control an~ the state refuses to exercise any and they are 
virtually without restramt." For Wilson, Indian citizenship had come to 
be defined primarily in terms of control.•• 

Just four months after Wilson assumed office that control began to break 
down. On 20_ N_ovember 1910 the superintendent sent an urgent telegram 
t~ the comnuss1oner of Indian affairs reporting that a fire the previous 
m~ht. had .. destroyed the girls' dormitory and several other agency 
bu~dmgs. The fire started in the girls' clothing room where there was 
neither fire nor lamp,. o~gin unknown," Wilson reported. He recom­
mend~ that a new ~uildmg be erected immediately.61 

It ?Id not take Wilso'.1 long, however, to recognize that trouble was 
brewmg on the resen-atJ.on. The following spring a "mysterious" fire 
destroyed the sawmill that was cutting wood for the new dormitory In 
November 1911, girls made two attempts to bum the new building ~d 
three of the older girls ran away. Wilson blamed the trouble on a ~trict 
head rnatro1_1 and f:'<'Ommended that "for the safety of the school" she be 
transferred unmediately. The Indian Office complied.•• 

1:he reserv.itio1_1 revo!t, howeve~,. had only begun. In April 1912, two 
Indians began circulatJ.ng a peli!J.on calling for the superintendent's 
removal. The Indians charged that Wilson was allowing schoolchildren to 
be nustreated and not giving them enough to eat. Wilson denied the 
ch~es: b~t a letter from the school's white physician supported the 
Indians claims. Dr. \\ellstead said Wilson had dismissed his request for 
a supply of cough medicine, telling him: "Oh, mix up anything and give 

it to 'em, just so it is medicine; and make it bitter so they won't return 
for more. " 63 

The gathering tensions came to a head in early 1914. On 30 January, a 
3 A.M. fire destroyed the schoolhouse and a large quantity of stores. By 
late that day, two boys, ages twelve and fifteen, had admitted setting the 
blaz.e and implicated two more. The young arsonists had previously tried 
to run away from the boarding school and, as Wilson reported, they 
thought that if they burned the building "the school would be closed, and 
they could return home." Instead, the superintendent threw the boys in 
jail.•• 

That episode proved a turning point on the resen-ation. A few days later, 
while Wilson was in San Francisco testifying before the grand jury that 
indicted the boys, more than 50 Indians met in the home of the local 
Presbyterian minister to plan a revolt. A traveling white preacher who had 
been working to set up Indian day schools in the area attended the 
meeting, and Wilson later charged that this man, the Reverend F. G. 
Collett, incited the Indians. But the uproar on the reservation can hardly 
be laid at Collett's feet. Nearly 150 Indians signed the petition calling for 
Wilson's removal, and scores also petitioned for the removal of clerk 
Omar Bates. A handful gave money, and some 30 to 40 Native Americans 
signed affidavits detailing their complaints.65 

The charges leveled in the petitions, the identity of the revolt's leaders, 
and the observations of special agents sent out by the Office of Indian 
Affairs to investigate the controversy all suggest that the uproar resulted 
from issues long simmering on the reservation. Of the five charges in the 
petition against Wilson, the first three inmlved issues of :fumily and 
heirship. The Indians reiterated their earlier charges that boarding-school 
students were being mistreated and weren't being given enough to eat. 
They also complained that Wilson had wrongfully retained money belong­
ing to Indians. As Special Agent C. H. Asbury explained, "Certain heirs 
thought they should have the money derived from [allotment] leases. " 66 

Many of those Indians leading the protest-including several who were 
former employees of the agency-had had run-ins with Wilson over 
gender and family issues. The fathers of two of the schoolboys prosecuted 
by Wilson gave money to press for his ouster. So did George Scott, whose 
wife Minnie had tangled so unfortunately with Wilson and Bates. Alex 
Frazier, another vocal opponent of Wilson, was probably hounded by the 
superintendent because of a "promiscuous" relationship. Beulah E. 
Smith, who spoke at the initial meeting, had held various posts at the 
boarding school until Wilson forced her to resign because he suspected 
she had been seduced by a white employee. In her letter of resignation, 
Smith complained that she was "being treated and watched like one of the 
pupils." Wilson, she said, had grilled her about her personal affairs 
"which I consider of no importance to any one excepting myself. "67 

Ben Neafus, until February the school disciplinarian, spearheaded the 
effort to collect money and affidavits from the Indians. A one-quarter­
blood Indian, Neafus had not long before been recommended by Wilson 
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for promotion. But shortly before the school fire, Wilson forbade Neafus 
to spend nights with his sick wife, insisting that the disciplinarian was 
needed at the school. Neafus disobeyed Wilson's orders and w.is away the 
night the fire broke out. For this, Wilson had him dismissed.68 

Two special agents sent out by the Office of Indian Affairs cleared 
Wilson of wrongdoing, although one criticized the superintendent's lack 
of patience with the Indians. But Round Valley's Native Americans were 
to have the final word. On 11 March two twelve-year-old boys tried to bum 
the boys' dormitory, and a few days later, WIison sent a lengthy letter 
urging Washington to abandon the school. Given the recent spate of fires 
and the unabated hostility of both parents and pupils, it no longer made 
sense for the government to spend money on a boarding school, WIison 
wrote: 

These Indians have had the advantage of schools for 43 years ... and it seems to me 
that they are about as well prepared to be thrown on their own resourees as they ever 
will be. . . . I recommend that the government say to these Indians, "You have been 
given every advantage for obtaining an education, have been furnished land and stock 
and implements to cultivate your land, and from this date you will have to depend on 
your own resources." 

This time the Office of Indian Affairs listened. Later that year, it trans­
ferred Wilson, closed the Round Valley boarding school, and opened a day 
school in its place.6' 

The Indians had won a battle in the assimilation campaign, but had they 
in fact won the war? Several documents from the Round Valley Agency 
files suggest the dichotomous results of the assimilation campaign. In 
September 1914, shortly before he left the· reservation for good, Wilson 
sent Washington a list of student-made articles to be displayed at the 
Panama-Pacific International Exhibition in San Francisco the following 
year. The list included a child's white dress, an embroidered pin cushion, 
and a lawn apron trimmed in ribbon and lace. In a separate missive, 
Wilson noted that the older Indian women overseen by his agency made 
baskets only in their spare time. For the most part, he wrote, they did 
washing for white people, picked hops, and worked as domestics.7° 

In a 1919 inspection report, Special Agent L. A. Dorrington bemoaned 
what he saw as the rampant immorality of Round Valley Indians. "There 
are many cases of open adultery," some involving girls under the age of 
consent, he wrote. "There is no excuse for such conditions as these 
Indians are largely mixed blood and have lived in close relation with the 
whites for more than fifty years. . . . They know right from wrong but 
frequently seem to prefer the latter or rather take to it more readily." The 
General Allotment Act, Dorrington concluded, "has not been fully 
received" by the Indians." 

Taken together, these documents say much about the ironic outcome of 
the "total assimilation" campaign. The Indian women and men of Round 
Valley had indeed learned the gendered skills of Euro-American society, 
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but they were fur from being the dutiful housewives and "manly and 
independent" furmers reformers had once hoped to create. Too poor to sit 
home and knit doilies, Indian women had survived by putting their skills 
to work in a marketplace dominated by whites. This put them on a plane 
more equal to their own men than that Washington had hoped to 
encourage, but it also deposited them fur below the middle-class Euro­
American \\Omen they served. Instead of embodying the Victorian ideal, 
the Native American women of Round Valley helped make that ideal 
possible for others. 

At the same time, the Indians of Round Valley fiercely resisted federal 
efforts to curb their marital freedom or deprive them of control over their 
children. But this very resistance to attempts at "uplift" disillusioned 
many white reformers and bureaucrats and contributed to their willingness 
to abandon their original goals and work instead to slot Indians into 
American society's lower ranks.72 As Dorrington wrote in his 1919 report, 
"Many [whites] feel that [the assimilation campaign] forced a condition 
upon [the Indians] which they were not prepared to accept." 

By 1914, the Office of Indian Affirlrs had not only accepted but had em­
braced this inequality. No longer convinced that Indians were inherently 
equal to Euro-Americans, policymakers and federal bureaucrats had altered 
their goals. The quarterly reports sent out to field matrons no longer asked 
about the Indians' adoption of home decorations and white children's 
games. Instead, the office asked about women's \\Ork and what had been 
done to help "returned students." Ella Brown's answer in December 1914 
spoke eloquently about the assimilation program's new direction: "The 
girls," she wrote, "hav.e all been placed in good homes in domestic 
science. '' 73 
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ular tribes, see Joan Jensen, "'Native American W>men and Agrie\i!ture: A Seneca Case Study," 
Sex Roles 3, no. 5 (1977): 423-41; Mazy E. Young, .. Women, Civiliz.ation and the Imian Question," 
in Clio Rm a Rbman: Studies in lhe Jrzstory of American Women ed. Mabel Dcutrich and Virginia 
C. Purdy (Washington, D.C.: Howard UnivCISity Press, 1980), 98-UO; Theda Perdue. "Southern 
Inwans and the Cult of True v.bmanhood" in 7k lll,b of Scuthem Social Relations: lib-, 
Family and Educalion, ed. "Milter J. Fraser, Jr .• R. Frank Saunders, Jr. and Jon L. Wakclyn 
(Athens: Univernity of Georgia Press, 1985), 35-Sl; Carolyn Gmett Pool, "Reservation Policy 
and the Economic Position of Wichita Women.· Greaz Plains Quarterly 8, no. 3 (Summer 1988): 
158-71; Dolores Janicwski, "'Learning to Live 'Just Like White Folks': Gender, Ethnicity, and the 
State in the Inland Northwest" in Gendered Domains: Reth.inking Public and Privaie in ffbmen's 
History, ed. Dorothy 0. Helly ao:I Susan M. Reverby (Ithaca, N.Y.: Cornell University Press, 
1992). 167-80; and essays by Theda Purdue and Katherine M.B. Osburn in Negotialors of 
Oumge: H,st.orical Perspectives on Native American 'Rbmen, ed. Nancy Shoemaker (New York: 
Routledge, 1995). Two recent stuiies of the D3'\eS Act-Frederick Hoxie's acclaimed A Fmal 
Promise: 1k Campaign to Assimilale the Indians, 1880-1920 (Lincoln: University of Nebraska 
Press, 1984) and Janet A. McDonnell's The Dispossession of the American Indian, 1887-1934 
(Bloomington; Indiana University Press, 1991)-ignore gender issues. 

3. In general, federal officials heading the Round Valley Agency in the nineteenth century 
were known as agents, while those who served in the twentieth century bore the title of 
superintendent. However. there seems to have been a temporary exception to this around 1909. 
In that year, Thomas Downs first served as the special U.S. Indian agent in charge at Round 
Valley. He was succeeded briefly by U. L. Clardy, clerk and special disbursing agent, who wrote 
the agency's 1909 annual report. 

4. The rancherfas resulted from the unique labor situation in California at the time the 
territory became a state. By 1850, Anglo and Hispanic ranchers and fanners in California relied 
heavily on Indian labor. Thus, they were reluctant to have Indians swept wholesale onto the 
separate rese~ and reservations the federal gcwcrnment began establishing in 1851. In 1850, the 
state ~scmbly passed a bill allowing Indians to remain in "homes and villages" that they had 
occupied .. for a number of ye.an." The white proprietor could apply to have "sufficient" land 
set aside for the Indians, and they could remain there until "otherwise provided for." Initially, 
the Round Valley Agency oversaw just the reservation established at Round Valley; however, in 
the early twentieth century its purview was extended to cover "rancherfa"' Indians in Mendocino, 
Sonoma, and Lake Counties. In this paper, I use the term "Round Valley Indians" to refer to all 
the Indians under the agency's supervision at a given time. For more on the establishment of the 
rancherfas, see Albert L. Hurtado, Indian Survival on the Co.lifomia Frontier (New Haven, 
Conn.: Tu.le University Press, 1988), 129-30. 

S. In general, sources on the gender roles of northern California tribes prior to contact with 
whites are scattered and scarce: Many tribes-including most of those represented at Round 
Valley-were decimated during the 1850s, and ethnologists who subsequently studied these tribes 
primarily interviewed men. The most comprehensive article on the subject is Edith Wallace, 
"Sexual Status and Role Diffetences," in Handbook of North American Indians, 20 vols., ed. 
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William C. SturteVant (Washington, D.C.: Smithsonian Institution. 1978- ) , vol. 8, 683-89. 
However, Wallace is more interested in generalizing about the region's tribes than in 
distinguishing between them. Also see articles on the Conkow. Yuki, Wailaki, Achumawi, 
NomJaki, and Pomo in that volume. For a further ethnographic discussion of the various tribes, 
see A. L. Kroeber, Handbook of the Indians of California, Bureau of American Ethnology 
Bulletin 78 (Washington D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office, 1925). 

6. In addition to the sources cited in note 5, see Russell Thornton, ... History, Structure, and 
Survival: A Comparison of the Yuki (Ukonmo'm) and Tolo.va (Hush) Indians of Northern 
California," F,thno/ogy 25, no. 2 (1986): 119-30; and Edwin Loeb, "Pomo Folkways," Univer,uy 
of California Publications in American Arch.aelogy and Etluwlogy. vol. 19, no. 2 (Berkeley: 
University of California Press. ?926). 

The concept of a "Pomo tribe" is itself a social construct invented in the nineteenth century 
by white ethnographers. For more than a century, the tenn "Pomo" has been used in 
anthropological literature to refer to speakers of seven distinct and mutually unintelligible 
languages in northern California, who nevertheless shared many cultural characteristics. Most of 
the Indians ovciscen by the Round Valley Agency probably belonged to the Western and 
Northeastern Pomo. However, since material on these individual groups is limiled-and all of the 
groups seem to have accorded their women unusually high status-this paper follows the tradition 
of the ethnographic literature and treats them as one group. 

7. See the sources cited in notes 5 and 6, particularly the various articles in the Handbook 
of North American Indians. 

8. In 1839, P. Kostromitonov, agent of the Russian American Company at Fort Ross, 
descnbed the northern California Indians' custom of marrying "without formality whatever" and 
separating whenever they fouglt. Although Kostromitonov was clearly ethnocentric and his 
ethnographic pro;ision must be doubted, he was only the first in a long line of European and 
Euro-American observers to comment on the .. informal" se,:;ual practices of the northern 
California tribes. Sec Elhnograph.ic Observations on the Coast Miwck and Jbmo by Centre­
Admiral F. P. ~n Wrangell and P. Knstromi.tonov of the Russian Co/o,ry Ross, 1839, trans. Fred 
Stress (Berkeley; University ofCalifonria Archaeological Research Facility, 1974), as well as the 
sources cited in notes S and 6 above. 

A particularly interesting source on this subject is a set of oral histories conducted around 1940 
with three Pomo women who ~ born in the 1870s and 1880s, All of the '\\Omen, as well as 
their mothers, had more than one husband: As the mother of one of the women told an inter~ 
viewer, "That's the Wa'f the Indians do it." The interviews also point up the mi~ feelings Indian 
women had about this practice. Sophie Martinez, who was born at the Round Valley Reservation, 
\VIS bitter that her father had left her mother and that she had been abandone.d t,, her first three 
husbands. By contrast, both Ellen Wood and her mother were married to older men when they 
were quite young to get them away from the sexual advances of relatives. Both later ran away from 
their first husbands and remanied. "Our 'MIY is ~-no law. You stay with themas long as you 
feel like it and then run away and get another man," Wood said. Elizabeth Colson, Autobiogra­
phies of Three Pomo ffbmen (Berkeley: University of California Archaeological Research 
Facility, 1974). 

Other scholars, including Joan Jensen and Mary Young in the articles cited above, have noted 
that other Indian groups also followed sexual and marital practices that seemed lax to white 
observers. HOM?ver, most historians have paid this only passing attention. Christine Bolt has 
suggested that "the Indians' free sexual expression from an early age ensured the survival of their 
numerically small and vulnerable groupings." Albert Hurtado notes that some Plains tribes 
believed coitus transferred power from one man to another by way-of a female intcnnediary and 
used sex to establish friendship and trade relations. Sec Christine Bolt, American Indian Policy 
and American Reform.: Case Srudi.es of the Campaign to Assimilate the American Indians 
(London: Allen & Unwin, 1987), 253; Hurtado, Indian Survival, 171. 

9. For accounts of the impact of the gold rush on Native Americans in northern California, 
see Albert Hwtado, Indian Survival; Lynwood Carranco and Estle Beard, Genocide and 
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Jlenderra: The /round Valley ffoars of Northern California (Norman: University of Oklahoma Press. 
1981); and Ecl\vard Castillo, "The Impact of Euro-American Exploration and Settlement," in 
Handbook of North American Indians, vol. 8, 107-13. 

IO. In 1874 am 1875, Round \alley agent J. L, Burchard reported a sudden eq,losion in the 
number of Indians converting to Christianity and taking Christian vows of marriage. However, 
this burst of piety proved transient: Apparemly the Indians believed that if they joined the church, 
the government would give them land. For information on this and other developments at Round 
Valley prior to 1890, see the annual reports filed by the Round Valley agents between 1870 and 
1890 and included in the annual R.eport of the Commissioner of Indian Affairs, Also see Todd 
Benson. "The Consequences of Reservation Life: Native Californians on lhe Round Valley 
Reservation, 1871-1884," Pacific Historical Review 60 (May 1991): 221-44; Virginia P. Miller, 
Ukomno'm: The Yuki Indians of Northern California (Socorro,. N.M.: Ballena Press. 1979); 
Virginia P. Miller, .. The Changing Role of the Chief on a California Indian Reservation," 
American Indian Quarterly 13 (1989), 447-SS; and Vtrginia P. ~Miller, "The 1870 Ghost Dance 
and the Methodists: An Unexpecte.d Tum of Events in Round Valley," Journal of California 
Anlhropo/ogy 3 (Winter 1976): 66--74. 

11. Both a copy of the Dawes Act and a discussion of its provisions are included in the 1887 
Repcn of the Commissioner of lndian Affairs. The Burke Act of 1906 revised the Dawes Act in 
three significant ways: O) It postponed citizenship for future allottees until the end of the trust 
period; (2) it authorized the president to extend the initial twenty~five~yem-trust period on 
allotments (which would further delay citizenship) if conditions so warranted; and (3) it 
authorized the secretary of the interior to waive the remaining trust period fur all Indians judged 
competent to handle their property independently. Michael L. Lawson, "The Fractionated Estate: 
The Problem of American Indian Heirship," South Dakota HlSIOry 21, no. l (Spring 1991): 14. 

12. Hoxie. Final Promise, IS. R>r quotes from Atkins, see the discussion of the Dawes Act 
in the 1887 Report of the Commissioner of Indian Affairs, viii-x. 

13. Quoted in S. Lyman 'fyler, A History of Indian Policy (Washington D.C.: U.S. Department 
of the Interior, 1973). Ironically, 'fyler quotes this passage without making any note of its gender 
connotations. Similar passages can be found in some of the correspondence of Round Valley 
agents. For instance; in his 1897 annual report, acting agent George A. Patrick mentions the 
--manly independence" fostered by the Dawes Act. His report is included in the 1897 Report of 
the Commissioner of Indian '1ffai.rs. 

14. Repon of the Commissioner of lndian Affairs for 1892, 31-37. In 1894, the Hopi-another 
tribe that traced kinship through the maternal line-responded to the commissioner's patrilineal 
approach with a small lecture on the Hopi way oflife. In a remarlcable petition addressed to '"the 
Washington Chiefs, .. the Hopi wrote in part: "The family, the dwelling house and the field are 
inseparable, because the '/roman is the heart of these, and they rest with her. Among us the family 
traces its kin from the mother, hence all its possessions arc bees." A copy of the letter can be 
found in Peter Nabokov, ed., Native American Testimony: A Chronicle of lndian~White RelaJ.ions 
from Prophecy to the Present, 1492-1992 (New York: Viking, 1991), 249-51. 

JS. See Round \alley agent Thomas Connally's 1894 annual report, included in the Repon of 
the Commissio~r of lndi.an 4/jlirs. 

16. Circular dated 19 March 1890 from the Office of Indian Affiun, box 30, Round Valley 
Papers. The rancheria Indians provide an interesting contrast to the federal policy of linking 
private property ownership to patriarchal nuclear families. One U.S. Indian agent observed in 1912 
that the rancheria Indians in the Round Valley district owned traciS of from S to 160 acres which 
they treated as oommunity property: "The title to this land is a sort of community title and it is so 
assessed, the tax beirig paid by contribution from the different families, and where they have some 
agricultural land it is used somewhat in. common, or divided into small plots so that each family 
has the use of same, the houses being grouped in a sort of villa~." Spccial IndWl Agent to CIA. 
13 August 1912, •MJ to 178, July I, 1912-November 23, 1912" !older, box 24, Round V..Uey l'ape1'. 

17. For general discussions c{ allotment at Round Valley, see the reservatioo's annual reports 
in the Report qf the Commissioner of Indian Affairs for 1893 and 1894, and Horace Johnson's 
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discussion of allotment in his letter to the CIA on 19 October 1908, LB 6, box 3, Round Valley 
Papers. For the amount of land allotted to specific individuals, see "General Land Office Record 
of Patents for Allotments (1895)" in box 153, Round Valley Papers. This record also shows that 
some Indians received less than the standard five or ten acres. Most, though not all. of those who 
received smaller parcels were women. 

18. The Dawes Act of 1887 entitled Indian family heads to 160-acre allotments and allowed 
single adults and orphan minors to qualify fur altotments of 40 acres. (In practice, these figures 
were often prorated.) Alice .fletcher, an anthropologist and allotting agent on the Omaha, 
Winnebago, and Nez. Perce reservations, was among those who noted that this provided little 
protection for Indian women who were abandoned by their husbands. In response to such 
pressure, Congress amended the Dawes Act in 1891 to give "80 acres to every man. woman and 
~hitd. irrespective of age or relation." However. the a1Iotment of the Round Valley Reservation 
ID 1894 shows that this equitable principle w.is not always followed in practice. Lawson, 
"'Fractionated Estate," 3-4, 8; Janiewski, "'Leaming to Live'·• 173-74. For a useful discussion 
of the problems such gendered assumptions created for divorced Ute women after allotment, see 
Katherine M. B. Osburn, "'Dear Friend and Ex-Husband': Marriage, Diwrce, and Women's 
Property Rights on the Southern Ute Reservation, 1887-1930" in Negotiators of Change, 157-75. 

19. Horace Johnson to T. B. Wilson, 18 June 1912, in '"MS0I-524 (June IO, 1912-June 19, 
1912)," box 23, .. Incoming Correspondence from Others than the Commissioner, 1903-1914," 
Round Valley Papera. 

20. For example. in a 1911 letter to the CIA, Round Valtey superintendent T. B. Wilson noted 
that "The Office has held that the act of allotment which makes Indians citi7.ens also legalizes 
the marriage if it were not otherwise legal." See letter dated 6 March 19ll. in LB 9, box 4, Round 
Valley Papers. 

21. General T. J. Morgan's speech on "The New Indian School Policy," delivered on 17 
De.ccm.ber 1889 to the Indian Rights Association in Philadelphia, in box 30. Rowd Valley Papers. 
..Supplemental Report on Indian Education" included in the 1889 Repon of the C:O~sioner of 
Indian ,1/fairs. 

. 22. In addition to some of the articles cited in note 2, see Margaret Connell S7.aSZ., .. 'Poor 
Richard' Meets the Native American: Schooling for Young Indian Women in Eighteenth-Century 
Connecticut," l'o.dfic Histon'co.l Review 49 (1980): 215-35; Robert A. Trennert, "Victorian 
Mo~ity_and the Supervision of Indian Wome-J1 Working in Phoenix, 1906-1930," Journal of 
Social Hrstory 2, no. 1 (1988): ll3-28: and Robert A. Trennert, "Educating llXlian Girls at Non­
reservation Boarding Schools, 1878-1920," !%stem Historical Quarterly 13, no. 3 (1982): 271-90. 
Although most scholars have foaase.d on the fact that Native American children were educated 
to Euro-American gender nonns, it should be emphasized these "nonns" were in fact middle­
class ideals. Christine Stansell has shown that gender ideals among working--class men and 
women often differed dramatically from those advocated by middlcxlass refonners. Meanwhile, 
as Robert Griswold ~ no~, rising divorce rates in the West during the late nineteenth century 
su~~ that many white nuddle-class couples were also falling short of the domestic ideal. See 
Chri~tlD? Stansell, City of Kbmen: Sex and Class in New lbrk, 1789-1860 (Urbana: University 
of Ilhno1s Press, ¥177), and Robert L. Griswold. Family and Diw:,rce in California, 1850-/890: 
VicLorian Illusions and Everyday Reali.ties (Albany: State University of New )(:irk Press, 1982). 

23. Carl Schurz, .. Present Aspects of the Indian Problem,,. in Americanizing lhe Amen·can 
Indians: Writings by the "Fn·ends of the Jndian," 1880-1900, ed. Francis Paul Prucha (Lincoln· 
Univer.;ity of Nebraska Press, 1973), 20. · 

24. In 1891 the U.S. Congress passed a law-making education-which often meant boarding 
s~l-mandatory for Indian children. The commissioner of Indian affairs explained the intent 
behmd_ the law_ as ~llows: "Ordinarily the parent should be regarded as the natural guardian and 
custodian of his child .... When, hCM'ever, it becomes evident that the parent is unwilling or 
unable to do this. and that the child, in consequence, is wellnigh certain to grow up idle, vicious, 
or helpless, a menace or a burden to the public, it becomes not only the right of the Government 
as a matter of self-protection, but its duty toward the child and t()'l.l.l8rd the community, which is 
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to be blessed or cursed by the child's activities, to see to it that he shall have in his youth that 
training that shall save him from vice and fit him for citizenship." 1891 Report of the. 
Commissioner of Indian Affairs, 67. 

25. Todd Benson describes this episode in "The Consequences of Reservation Life." In the 
article he does oot place this iOC;ident in the conteXt of gender concerns or link Sheldon's moral 
strictness directly to the bu~ of the school. However, in a subsequent conversation, Benson 
confinned that the conclusion drawn here is warranted. 

26. See the 1885, 1887, and 1890 annual reports of the Round Valley agent, included in the 
Report of the Commissioner of Indian Affairs for those years. 

27. For discussions of the school .. curriculum," see, for instance, Harry Liston's letter to the 
CIA, 26 December 1900, LB 1, box 2, and U. L Clardy's letter to the CIA, 26 February 1910, 
LB 7, box 4, Round Valley Papers. The records of the Round Valley school also conlain lists of 
students assigned to various work .. brigades .. during the 1890s. 

28. Harry Liston to the CIA, 26 December 1900, LB 1, box 2, Round Valley Pa!'=, 
29. Letters from Horace Johnson to the CIA on 18 March 1905, LB 3, box 2; 15 December 

l9ll5 and 26 March 1906, both LB 4, box 3; and 25 January 1909, LB 6, box 3, Round Valley 
Pa!'=, 

30. T. B. Wilson's letter to the CIA. Z7 February 1912. LB 10, box 4; Hany Liston's letter to 
the CIA, 18 December 1902, LB 2, box 2; U. L. Clanly's letter to the CIA, 3 November !909, 
LB 7, box 4, Round Valley PaP=, 

31. Annual n::port of the Round Valley agent included in the 1897 Report of the. Commissioner 
of Indian Affairs; letter from Judson Liftchild, the reservation physician, to 0A on 3 January 
1904, LB 2. box 2. Rowtd Valley Papers; Jetter from Harry Liston to the CIA on 31 August 1899> 
LB I. box 2, Round Valley Papers. Sec also the monthly school report fonns found in box 32, 
Round Valley Papers. 

32. Hurtado, in Indian Survi"71, mentions the kidnapping of Indian children in the post-gold 
rush years. For a first-person account, see Editb V. A. Murphey, .. Out of the Past: A True Indian 
Story Told by Lucy Young of Round Valley Indian Reservation..,· California Historical Society 
Quanerly 20. oo. 4 (1941): 349--64. One indication of the cozx:em Indian parents felt for their 
children at the boarding school is the number of letters they sent to the Round Valley 
superintendent inquiring about their offspring. Examples can be found in box 24. Round Valley 
Papers. Also Superintendem Harry Liston noted that he had met tbe "opposition of either the 
father or mother or both in nearly every instance when the child was to be taken any considerable 
distance from home . ., Liston to CIA, 10 October 1901, LB 1, box 2, Round Valley Papers. 

33. For quotes in this and the following paragraph, see the Report of the Commissioner of 
lndum Affairs, 1893, 54-55. 

34. The cover page of each ofthe Round Valley field matrons' monthly and quarterly reports 
lists their duties. Se.e also the discussion of field matrons in the Report of the Commissioner of 
Indian Affairs, 1893 and 1894, The role of female reformers and field matrons is discussed in 
Rebecca Herring, .. Their Work '\Y.is Never Done: Women Missionaries on the IOowa,,Comanche 
Reservation ... Qironicles of O/dahcma 64, no. I (1986): 68-83~ Martha C. Knack, .. Philene T. 
Hall, Bureau of Indian Affairs Field Matron: Planned Cultural Change of ~hakie Shoshone 
Women," Prologue 22, no. 2 (1990): 151-67; Valerie Sherer Mathes, "Nineteenth CentUry Women 
and Reform: The Women's National Indian Association, .. American Indian Quarterly 14, no. 1 
(1990): 1-18; Lisa E. Emmerich, .. •Right in the Midst of My Own People': Native American 
\libmen and the Field Matron Program," American Indian Quanerly 15, no. 2 (Spring 1991): 
201-216: Lisa E. Emmerich, .. 'Civilization' and Transculturation: The Field Matron Program and 
Crosscultural Contact," American. Indian Culture and Research Journal IS, no. 4 (1991): 33-41; 
and Lisa E. Emmerich, .. Marguerite LaFlesche Diddock, Officeoflndian Afrairs Field Matron, .. 
Great Plains /µ,ncrly 13, no. 3 (1993): 162-71. 

35. Five field matrons associated with the Round Valley Agency left some record of their work 
in the agency papers. Carrie C. Moses, a fifty-one-year-old Wisconsin widow, came to the Round 
Valley Resemltion in 1897 and stayed two years. Llnnian TmdaII, a manied v.oman in ber late 
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thirties, was based far to the south near Lakep:irt, CaJifornia, in 1908 and 1909. Emma J. 
Alexander was also based near Lakeport in 1914 and 1915. In 1914, Mary E. Tabor worked at the 
Upper Lake Indian Day School, and Ella S. Brown y,,a,s affiliated with the Manchester Indian Day 
School. This paper relies primarily on the reports of Moses and Tindall, since those are the most 
extensive. For biographic.al information on the field matroM, see .. Record of Employees, 
1883-1920, • box 147, Round \>lley Pa!'=, 

36. Carrie Moses, monthly field matron report for November 1897; Linnian Tindall, monthly 
field matron rep:irt for May 1908; both in box 35, Round Valley Papers. 

37. Linnian Tindall, monthly field matron reports for February and November 1909, box 35, 
Round Valley Papers. 

38. Carrie Moses, monthly field matron reports for March and April 1898; Linnian Tindall, 
monthly field matron report for April 1909; both in box 35, Round Valley Papers. 

39. Linn.ian Tindall. monthly field matron reports for May and November 1908, and quarterly 
field matron report for quarter ending 31 March 1909, box 35, Round Valley F3.pcr:.. 

40. Cover page of all field matron reports, listing duties; Carrie Moses, fiekl matron report 
for quarter ending 31 December 1897; Linnian 11ndall, field matron reports for year ending 30 
June 1909 and quarter ending 30 September 1909; all in box 35, Round Valley Papers. 

41. Carrie Moses, field matron report for quarter ending 31 March 1898, and report covering 
18 June to 30 June 1898, box 35, Round Valley Papers. 

42. Carrie Moses. field matron report for quarter ending 30 June 1898, box 35, Round Valley 
Papers; Emma Alexander, field matron report for quarter ending 30 September 1914, box 41, 
Round Valley Papers. 

43. Linnian Tmdall, monthly field matron report for November 1908, box 35, Round Valley 
Papers; letter from Horace Johmon to CIA, 21 November 1908. LB 6, box 3, Round Valley 
Papers. 

44. Horace Jolmson to CIA, 20 October 1903 and 3 November 1903, both in LB 2, box 2, 
Round Valley Papers. Although the Round Valley Reservation initially contained over 100.000 
acres, Congress in 1890 set aside almost two-thirds of that land for sale to whites. Much of the 
remaining land was not considered tillable, so in 1894, 5,408 acres of valley land were divided 
among 604 Indians. (All allottees subsequently received between 50 and 70 acres of mountainous 
land, suitable only for stock raising.) For details on allotment at Round Valley, sec the annual 
reports of the Round VaJley agent included in the Report of the Commissioner of Indian Affairs 
for 1893 and 1894, as well as Horace Johnson's discussion of the allotment process in bis letter 
to the CIA on 19 October 1908, LB 6, box 3, Round Valley PaP=, 

45. Cover page of field matron reports listing their duties; Linnian Tindatl, field matron report 
for quarter ending 30 June 1908. and monthly field matron reports for October and June 1908; 
all in box 35, Round Valley Papers. 

46. Linnian Tindall, momhly field matron reports for September 1908 and January 1909, box 
35, Round ¼lley Papers. 

47. Annual report of the Round Valley agent included in the 1897 Report of the Commissioner 
of Indian Affain; Thomas Downs. special U.S. agent in charge, to the CIA, 16 April 1909. LB 
7, box 4, Round Valley Papen;. 

48. Thomas Downs to CIA. 16 April 1909; U. L. Clardy to OA, 14 Augu~ 1909; both in LB 
7, box 4, Round Valley Papen;. 

49. Horace Johnson to ClA, I April 1907, LB 5, box 3, Round Valley Papers, and Horace 
Johnson to CIA, ll July 1910. LB S. box 4, Pound Valley Papers. See also Horace Johnson to 
the CIA, 12 August 1907 and 23 September 19(1), both LB 5, box 3, Round Valley Pa!'=, 

50. Lawson, .. Fractionated Estate, .. 15-16. 
51. Tbomas Downs to CIA, 16 April 1909, LB 7, box 4, Round Valley Papers. 
52. In this case, an Indian named Jim Henley 'N3S legatly married to Lucy Moore, They 

separale.d-but never secured a divorce-and Henley began living with Lizzie Martin. Henley and 
Martin also separated, and Martin moved in with another man. However, she and her 
granddaughter cared for Henley during bis final illness and he died in her home. Johnson ruled 
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that Martin rather than Moore was Henley's heir. Wilson's decisions in similar cases suggests that 
he would have rule.d for Moore, even though Henley and Moore bad been separated for more than 
a decade. See Horac.e Johnson to CIA, 27 July 1907, LB S, box 3, Round Valley Papers. 

53. Lawson, ""Fractionated Estate,,. 16. T. B. Wilson to CIA, IO March 1913 and 31 May 1913, 
both in LB 11, box S, Round Valley Papers. 

54. T. B. Wilson to the CIA, 5 September 1911, LB 9, box 4, Round Valley Papers. 
55. T. B. Wilson to CIA, IO August 1911, LB 9, and I July 1912, LB IO, both in box 4, Round 

Valley Papers. Wilson notes in the first letter that he has been directed by the Office of Ind"tan 
Affairs .. to take vigorous action to break up the practice of Indians living together witho~t being 
legally married.• 

56. ForthecaseofBelle Wilsey, see T. B. Wilson to CIA, 11 May 1911, in LB 9, box 4, Round 
Valley Papers; and T. B. Wilson 10 CIA, 16 February 1912 and 26 April 1912, both in LB IO, box 
4, Round Valley Papers. 

57. For WUson's perspective on the case of Minnie Card·Scott, see T. B. Wilson to CIA, 3 
September 1912, and IO Sep!Cmber 1912, both in LB 10, box 4, Round Valley Papers; T. B. Wilson 
to CIA, 26 November 1912, and 17 March 1913, both in LB ll, box 5, Round Valley Papers. 

58. Minnie Card Scott's affidavit is quoted in a report filed by the Reven:ods Frederick G. 
Collett and Beryl Bishop Collett, who were field secretaries for a California rebnn group known 
as the Indian Board of Cooperation. See .. Report of Field Secretaries from Jan. 1st to March 20th, 
1914, • in "Round Valley" fulder, box 11, Dorrington Papers. 

59. Wilson's 19 March 1914 letter to the Office of Indian Affairs is quoted in Special Agent 
Colonel L A. Dorrington's report sununarizing his investigation of the Reverend F. G. Collett. 
The report can be found in .. F.G. Collett-2," box 2, Dorrington Papers. Wilson mentions the 
Indians' attempts to petition for a plblic school on the reservation in his annual report dated l July 
1914 contained in LB 13, box S, Round Valley Papers. Also see folders on the Co1Ietts in box 2 of 
the DorringlOn Papers and fulder marked "(School) General" in box 11 of the Dorrington Papers. 

60. T. B. Wilson to CIA, 24 April 1912, LB IO, box 4, Round Valley Papers. 
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